
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

February 19, 2013 6:00 pm 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Joe Brannen 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt 
 

3. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 02-06-2013 Council Minutes 
b) 02-06-2013 Work session minutes 
 

B) Consideration of a Motion to approve the 2nd reading of Ordinance 2013-02: An 
Ordinance to annex property of VALNOC, LLC into the City of Statesboro municipal 

                   limits. 
 

C) Consideration of a Motion to approve the 2nd reading of Ordinance 2013-03: An 
Ordinance to annex property of Wendell and Miriam Hodges into the City of 
Statesboro municipal limits 
 

D) Consideration of a Motion to approve 2nd reading of Ordinance 2013-04: An 
Ordinance to annex properties of the City of Statesboro into the City of Statesboro 

       municipal limits 
 
E) Consideration of a Motion to approve a Special Event Permit for Jamie Toms: 

a) Zeta Fall Alpha Semi-Formal- The Belle House 
 

F) Notification of alcohol license application: 
a) Licensee: Mohammad Khan 
    DBA: Uncle Dave’s Inc. DBA Don Corleone’s Pizza 
    Location: 200 Lanier Drive Suite 5 
   Type of Alcohol License: Retail Beer & Wine by the drink 
   Type of Business: Restaurant 

 
5. Consideration of a Motion to approve 1st reading of Ordinance 2013-01: An Ordinance 

Amending Certain Sections of Chapter 6 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances 
(Alcoholic Beverages) 
 

6. Consideration of a Motion to approve “Vehicle for Hire” 
A) D W Yellow Cab 2 – Delorise Flonory (Owner- New Business) 

 



 
 

7. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Award of Contract to Tucker Utilities, Inc. in the 
amount of $26,643.00 to make drainage improvements to a section of N. College St. (see 
attached location map).  The improvements are to be funded by 2007 SPLOST. 
 

8. Consideration of a Motion to adopt the manual for procurement card procedures for the 
City of Statesboro 
 

9. Consideration of a Motion to adopt the manual for purchasing procedures for the City of 
Statesboro 

 
10. Other Business from City Council 

 
11. Public Comments (General) 
 
12. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
  CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

FEBRUARY 06, 2013 

A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on February 06 , 2013 at 9:00 am in 
the Council Chambers at City Hall Present were Mayor Joe R. Brannen, Council Members: Will 
Britt, Phil Boyum, John Riggs, Gary Lewis and Travis Chance.  Also present were City Manager 
Frank Parker, City Clerk Sue Starling, City Attorney Alvin Leaphart, City Engineer Robert 
Cheshire and Director of Community Development Mandi Cody. 
 
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Joe Brannen 

 
Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance was given by Councilman Travis Chance 
 
Recognitions/Public Presentations 

A) Mayor Brannen  presents a proclamation recognizing “Arbor Day” 
 
Mayor Brannen presented the “Arbor Day” proclamation to Mr. Henry Clay while the Streets 
and Parks Superintendent Robert Seamans updated Council on the upcoming Arbor Day events. 
 
Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda: 
 
     A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 01-15-2013- Council Minutes 
b) 01-15-2013- Executive Minutes 

 
     B) Consideration of a Motion to approve a Special Event Permit for GSU: 

a)  Fundraiser Benefit – Garden of the Coastal Plain at GSU 
 
     C)  Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2013-03: A Resolution authorizing 
           the submittal of a 2013 Georgia Department of Community Affairs Community 
           Development Block Grant application and such supporting and collateral material 
           as shall be necessary for the Gordon Street area. 
 
      D) Consideration of a Motion to approve the 1st reading of Ordinance 2013-02: An 
           Ordinance to annex property of VALNOC, LLC into the City of Statesboro 
            Municipal limits. 
 
      E)  Consideration of a Motion to approve the 1st reading of Ordinance 2013-03: An 
            Ordinance to annex property of Wendell and Miriam Hodges into the City of 
            Statesboro municipal limits. 
 



 
 

       F) Consideration of a Motion to approve the 1st reading of Ordinance 2013-04: An 
            Ordinance to annex properties of the City of Statesboro into the City of Statesboro 
            municipal limits 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve the 
consent agenda in its entirety. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in 
favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve “Vehicle for Hire” 

A) D W Yellow Cab 2 – Delorise Flonory (Owner – New Business) 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to table the item until the 
next Council meeting. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 

B) D W Yellow Cab- Heather Fielder (Driver) 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve the 
application for Heather Fielder as a driver for D W Yellow Cab Company.  Councilman Britt, 
Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 
vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2013-02 (Revised): A Resolution to 
increase the hotel motel tax by 1%. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to approve Resolution 2013-
02 (Revised): A Resolution to increase the hotel motel tax by 1%. Councilman Britt, Boyum, 
Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Councilman John Riggs excused himself from the Council meeting at 9:15 am and did not return 
to the meeting. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve 1st reading of Ordinance 2013-01: An Ordinance 
amending certain sections of Alcoholic Beverages Chapter 6 of the Statesboro Code of 
Ordinances 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to table Ordinance 2013-
01 until the next meeting. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to award professional services contract for engineering 
pertaining to the Gordon Street area CDBG project 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to approve the motion to 
award the professional service engineering contract to Parker Engineering which pertains to the 
Gordon Street drainage CDBG grant project. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Chance voted 
in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
 



 
 

Consideration of a Motion to award a contract for demolition services to Y-Delta in the 
amount of $8,625.00 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to award a contract 
for demolition services at 2 Brown Street to Y-Delta in the amount of $8,625.00. Councilman 
Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Other Business from City Council 
 
City Manager Frank Parker encourages all professional service providers to bring ideas or 
projects, that would help improve the City, to their attention. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt requested for the City to hold the April 16th, 2013 Council Meeting at 
GSU. He asked City Manager Frank Parker to make the arrangements. 
 
Public Comments (General) 
Julia Frey representing “Up with People” would like to share their organization’s purpose 
with Council 
 
Julia Frey representing “Up with People” gave an overview of the organizations mission. She 
asked if anyone would like to give room and board to any of the visiting members, please contact 
her. They will be performing at the Averitt Center for the Arts on March 4th -11th, 2013. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Lewis made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to adjourn.  Councilman 
Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:30 am. 
 
 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MINUTES 

February 6, 2013 

 

A work session of the Statesboro City Council was held on February 6, 2013 at 9:45 a.m. in the 
Council Chambers at City Hall.  Present were Mayor Joe R. Brannen, Council Members: Will 
Britt, Phil Boyum, Travis Chance and Gary Lewis.  Also present were City Manager Frank 
Parker, City Clerk Sue Starling, Department Heads as well as staff members, news media and 
citizens. Absent was Councilman John Riggs. Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt left the meeting at 
10:30 am. He did not return to the meeting. 
 

Topics for Discussion: 
 
CAFR presentation by Richard Deal 
 
Richard Deal of Thigpen, Lanier, Westerfield and Deal Accounting Firm presented the 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report to Council for fiscal year ending June 30, 2012. 
 
Police Department needs assessment presentation for line level personnel 

  
Director of Public Safety Wendell Turner presented the assessment for the request of 21 new 
Police Officers to Council which includes the 3 officers from the ( COP) Grant. These 3 officers 
will be put on City payroll in October after the grant money ends. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 11:15 am. 
There was no action taken at the meeting 

 
 

 



PAGE 1 OF 2 
 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

ORDINANCE  2013 - XX 

ORDINANCE 2013 -02: 
AN ORDINANCE TO ANNEX PROPERTY  

INTO THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia have received 
petition from VALNOC, LLC, who is the owner of 100 percent of the property to be annexed; and, 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 36 of Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, in 

order to annex property, to provide an effective date and other provisions, the Mayor and City 
Council must approve an ordinance of annexation; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 
 

Section 1.  All that area contiguous to the City of Statesboro described in “Exhibit A,” 
attached hereto and incorporated herein as a part of this ordinance, is hereby annexed into the City of 
Statesboro and made a part of said city. 

 
Section 2.  This ordinance shall become effective on March 1, 2013. 
 
Section 3.  The Director of Planning & Community Development of the City of Statesboro is 

instructed to send a report that includes certified copies of this ordinance, the name of the county in 
which the property being annexed is located and a letter from the City stating the intent to add the 
annexed area to the Census maps during the next survey and stating that the survey map will be 
completed and returned to the United States Census Bureau, Georgia Department of Community 
Affairs, and to the governing authority of Bulloch County, Georgia within thirty (30) days after the 
effective date of the annexation as set forth in Section 2. 

 
Section 4.  On the effective date of the annexation, this property shall be placed in Council 

District 5 of the City of Statesboro. 
 
Section 5.  This property shall be zoned R4 (High Density Residential) and located in the 

“Developing” character area as shown on the City of Statesboro Future Development Map pursuant 
to the vote of the Statesboro City Council held on January 15, 2013 subsequent to a public hearing 
regarding the zoning of said property.    

 
 Passed and adopted on two separate readings. 
 First Reading:  February 6, 2013 
 Second Reading: February 19, 2013 
 
THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________   ________________________________ 
By:  Joe R. Brannen, Mayor    Attest:  Sue Starling, City Clerk



PAGE 2 OF 2 
 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

ORDINANCE  2013 - XX 

EXHIBIT A 
 
All that certain tract or parcel of land situate, lying and being in the 1209th G.M. District of Bulloch 
County, Georgia, designated as Tract 15 containing 83.92 acres gross, more or less, as shown on a 
plat of survey of “Tracts 14 & 15” prepared for the Terrell Beasley Estate by James M. Anderson & 
Associates, Inc., Registered Land Surveyor, dated December 14, 2005, and recorded in Plat Book 63, 
Page 36, Bulloch County, Georgia records, said plat being incorporated herein by reference, attached 
hereto. 
 
Less and Except: All that certain tract or parcel of land situate, lying and being in the 1209th G.M. 
District of Bulloch County, Georgia containing 18.007 acres as depicted on that certain plat of survey 
prepared by Donaldson Surveyors, dated August 14, 2012, for CEB Enterprises, LLC, recorded in 
Plat Book 65, Page 31, Bulloch County, Georgia records, said plat being incorporated herein by 
reference, attached hereto. 
 
It is the intention to annex all of the 83.92 acre parcel described above, excluding only the 18.007 
acre parcel to remain unincorporated. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  







PAGE 1 OF 1 
 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

ORDINANCE  2013 - XX 

ORDINANCE 2013 - 03: 
AN ORDINANCE TO ANNEX PROPERTY  

INTO THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia have received 
petition from Wendell and Miriam Hodges, who are the owners of 100 percent of the property to be 
annexed; and, 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 36 of Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, in 
order to annex property, to provide an effective date and other provisions, the Mayor and City 
Council must approve an ordinance of annexation; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 
 

Section 1.  All that area contiguous to the City of Statesboro know as Bulloch County Tax 
Map Parcel MS88000025 000, being 0.9 acres in size, as shown on the attached Bulloch County Tax 
Parcel Map, is hereby annexed into the City of Statesboro and made a part of said city. 

 
Section 2.  This ordinance shall become effective on March 1, 2013. 
 
Section 3.  The Director of Planning & Community Development of the City of Statesboro is 

instructed to send a report that includes certified copies of this ordinance, the name of the county in 
which the property being annexed is located and a letter from the City stating the intent to add the 
annexed area to the Census maps during the next survey and stating that the survey map will be 
completed and returned to the United States Census Bureau, Georgia Department of Community 
Affairs, and to the governing authority of Bulloch County, Georgia within thirty (30) days after the 
effective date of the annexation as set forth in Section 2. 

 
Section 4.  On the effective date of the annexation, this property shall be placed in Council 

District 5 of the City of Statesboro. 
 
Section 5.  This property shall be zoned HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) and located 

in the “Developing” character area as shown on the City of Statesboro Future Development Map 
pursuant to the vote of the Statesboro City Council held on January 15, 2013 subsequent to a public 
hearing regarding the zoning of said property.    

 
 Passed and adopted on two separate readings. 
 First Reading:  February 6, 2013 
 Second Reading: February 19, 2013 
 
THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________   ________________________________ 
By:  Joe R. Brannen, Mayor    Attest:  Sue Starling, City Clerk 





PAGE 1 OF 2 
 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

ORDINANCE  2013 - XX 

ORDINANCE 2013 - 04: 
AN ORDINANCE TO ANNEX PROPERTY  

INTO THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia have approved a 
petition from Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia, who is the owners of 100 
percent of each of the three properties to be annexed; and, 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 36 of Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, in 
order to annex property, to provide an effective date and other provisions, the Mayor and City 
Council must approve an ordinance of annexation; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 
 

Section 1.  All that area contiguous to the City of Statesboro described in “Exhibit A – 1, 2, 
and 3,” attached hereto and incorporated herein as a part of this ordinance, is hereby annexed into the 
City of Statesboro and made a part of said city. 

 
Section 2.  This ordinance shall become effective on March 1, 2013. 
 
Section 3.  The Director of Planning & Community Development of the City of Statesboro is 

instructed to send a report that includes certified copies of this ordinance, the name of the county in 
which the property being annexed is located and a letter from the City stating the intent to add the 
annexed area to the Census maps during the next survey and stating that the survey map will be 
completed and returned to the United States Census Bureau, Georgia Department of Community 
Affairs, and to the governing authority of Bulloch County, Georgia within thirty (30) days after the 
effective date of the annexation as set forth in Section 2. 

 
Section 4.  On the effective date of the annexation, this property shall be placed in Council 

District 3 of the City of Statesboro. 
 
Section 5.  These properties shall be zoned PUD (Planned Unit Development) and located in 

the “Green Space” character area as shown on the City of Statesboro Future Development Map 
pursuant to the vote of the Statesboro City Council on January 15, 2013 subsequent to a public 
hearing regarding the zoning of said property. 

 
 Passed and adopted on two separate readings. 
 First Reading:  February 6, 2013 
 Second Reading: February 19, 2013 
 
THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________   ________________________________ 
By:  Joe R. Brannen, Mayor    Attest:  Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
 
 

 
 
 



PAGE 2 OF 2 
 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

ORDINANCE  2013 - XX 

EXHIBIT A 
 

1. All that certain tract or parcel of land situate, lying and being in the 1209th G.M. District of 
Bulloch County, Georgia, designated as Parcel B containing 13.8 acres gross, more or less, as 
shown on a plat of survey of “Two parcels containing a total of 21.1 acres” prepared for the 
T.E. Rushing Estate and City of Statesboro by Thomas M. Lewis, Registered Land Surveyor, 
dated October 11, 2005, and recorded in Plat Book 62, Page 780, Bulloch County, Georgia 
records, said plat being incorporated herein by reference, attached hereto. 
 

2. All that certain tract or parcel of land situate, lying and being in the 1209th G.M. District of 
Bulloch County, Georgia, containing 181.62 acres gross, more or less, as shown on a plat of 
survey of “181.62 acres commonly known as Birds Pond” prepared for Georgia Southern 
University by Lamar Olliff Reddick, Registered Land Surveyor, dated November 30, 1993, 
said plat being incorporated herein by reference, attached hereto. 
 

3. All that certain tract or parcel of land situate, lying and situate in the 1209th G.M. District of 
Bulloch County, Georgia and containing 109.23 acres, more or less, according to a survey for 
the City of Statesboro prepared by Donald W. Marsh dated March 25, 1996, said plat being 
incorporated herein by reference, attached hereto. 

 
It is the intention to annex all of the parcels described above. 
 









CITY OF STATESBORO
P O BOX 348

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459
Telephon e (912) 764-5468 Fax (912) 764-4691

APPLICATION FOR A SPBCIAL EVBNT PERMIT
30 DAY NOTICE, IS REQUIRED BBFORE THE BVENT

DArE oF APPLIcATIoN #A * aS - I g

DATE OF EVEN'I'

TIME OF EVENT

c.3 - oq * 1.3

vENr th t Relle t{t U: e

TYPE OF EVENT DETAILED DESRIPT'ION)

IF THIS IS A THEATRE PRODUCTION, PROVDIE A DESCRIPTION.

t,/

PRODUCTS TO BE SERVED: ' BEER LIQUOR

** ALCOHOL MUST BE PURCHASED THROUGH A LICENSED
WHOLESALE DISTRIBUTOR.
NAME OF WHOLESALE DISTRIBUTOR hi&t,'r'l MJi-'

"fl'.ffif'$ryti
E NUMBBR OF W ALE DISTRIBUTOR

" 4 t,E ,5'.36, g

**THE APPLICANT IS NOT ALLOWED TO HAVE A CASH BAR AT THE
EVENT.

WILL THERE BB FOOD SBRVED? IF SO WHO WILL BE CATERING?



WILL THERE BE MUSIC AND DANCING? II.| SO DESCRIBED

IF RAISING MONEY FOR A CHARITY, WHAT IS THE NAME OF THE

ORGANIZATION

PROVIDE A NAME AND PHONE NUMBER OF THE CHARITY
ORGANIZATION CONTACT

IF THE EVENT IS FOR A CHARTTY, PROVIDE A COPY OF THB APPROVED

RECOGNITION OF EXEMPTION UNDER SECTION s01(cx3) oF THE

INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.

ARE FLYERS BEING DISTRIBUTED?
IF YES ATTACH TO APPLICATION.

YES /*,

NAME oF AppLrcANr ,Tauvi e T;vus

Appr.rcAN:r's ADDRESS l|,5' TlwanA Cirdt W;14.r/.,ffi3045&

APPLICANT'S PHONE NUMBER 41b" Lt)b, t o33

APPLICANT IS REQUIRED TO ATTEND THE COUNCIL MEETING'

T HAVE READ AND AGREE TO THE REQUTREMENTS OF THIS PERMIT''^-';;--: 11 /)
\TJWW ! {,111s_

SrcryhruRE oF arPltcnnr

OFFICE USE:
DATE OF COUNCIL MEETING

DATE APPROVED BY MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL



CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGTA

APPLICATION FOR A.LCOHOLIC BDVERAGE LICENSE

DATE OFAPPLICAT]ON

TYPE OF BUSINESS TO BE OPERATED:
RETAIL BEER& WINE PACKAGED ONLY
R-ETAIL BEER & WINE BY THE DRINK
BEER'WINE & 

.t 
IQUOR BY DRINK

WHOT.ESALE LICENSE
APPLICATION FEE - PACKAGED SALES
APPLICATION 3'n'8 - POURING SALES

APPLT.ANT' FULr- NAME Mo HR l-l {YA

nnw X RENEwAL_

$1'250;00
$1,250.00
$3,750.00
$1,000.00
$ 150.00
$ 150,00

D KHNNI
=
E

owNERSNArvrE Dnvio DeLoAcL{

DBA (BUSINESS NA }cl e DnvF's tH,c. 'Di3A 'Dctv

CHECI( THE Ty"p OF AI-COHOL LICFNSE YOU ARn APPLYING FOR:
R ESTAURAnT_[_sroRTS RESTAUMNT-rRIvATE cLUB_eACKAc E_
BUSTNESSADDRES' 2aa i-ANjl6€. D€iVE SLr,"Te5 gn

P O BCX zIqL STATESersEO 6,

ltz 87 t 4qa4

i

Le.clnes
_6
r''38tr

TESBCKO CA
za4SE

A 304 5qBUSINESS MAII,ING ADDRESS

BUSINESSTELEPHONE #

APPLICANTS HOME ADDR.ESS

APPLICANTS HOME PHONE #

APPLICANTS AGE
..,-

ARE YOU A CITIZEN OF THE, UNITED STATES? ' YES _ N0

HavE youR EVER BEnN ARRESTBn roR ANvTHING? _l__vrs No

rF yEs.wHEN ANDwHy [''i t SD F MfANdR CUR€6ES

IS THE APPLTCANT THE oWNER oF THE BUSINESS? yps X No

IF NO, wHAT IS YOUR TITLE IN THE BUSINESS? M A IV A6EK

HOW MANY PARTNERS, SHARBHOLDERS, ETC. ARE INVOLVED IN TFIE SUSTi'{ESS I

PLEASE LIST BELOW:

DAVIU DErcAC H





















BUSI NESS APPI-ICATION CHECKLIST

D W Yellow Cab ll
Business Name:

,/-.{1. \/ ZoninglPlanning

2. "''- Fire Inspection

./3. ,/ Background Check (Police Department)

4. N F Food Service Permit (Health Department)

5. F.iA Food Sales Permit (Department of Agriculture)

6. u./- Affidavit

7. n Copy of ldentification

8. r..lF Building Official - t+dN'.€- Qcc,*pa\or*,

9. Nil Engineering Department -tk$qtu Qeccupc\\ c"l

10. hl!- Secretary of State Professional License

11. Georgia Dept of Revenue sales Tax Submitted

12. tttr Verified Water ls In Business Name - 'b\cmr<' Qee''-ry*\-'\0n

13. [t Email Rachel Bragg at PD Information Sheet- !\rn<*@cu{o\-r6

14. Nt Email Chris Colson at Fire Dept Info Sheet - 11**-C<eq$U's-\

"/ No lssues With AnY DePartments

u \).hr t \

=\Z.qft 
*S41""*..c*;

Teresa Skinner - Tax Clerk



Citv of Statesboro
P.O.Box 348
50 East Main St.

Statesboro, Ga. 30458

www.statesboroga.net

(9r2) 764-s468
(9r2) 76a-a691(fax)

Occupational Tax APPlication
BLACK INK MUST BE USED

YOU CANNOT OPEN FOR BUSINESS WITHOUT AN OCCUPATION TAX CERTIFICATE

t understand all applicants will be required to provide a photo tD when this application is returned

Date of Application:

Business Trade Name:

Business Location:

Business Mailing Address: t G ftf -,n tr tnflf\ Ct\^L

.,rr, $\rlVxbou"o stut"' fi= iA zin: 3rt tl

-\ \ <-t 
^,*,flr 

$ Busin. t t -L:lp04 j
Business owner: 

- 
t )g\ ti'r'tft L\OnC'fl'-}', Business Telephone: \4 \ I

Emall: I

Business Owner's Address:

properry owner: Fq\O'{^\tt \-to r\tl fi 
"1

Georgia Sales Tax #: -4 Federal Tax ID#:

State Board Certificate #: Expiration Date:

Dominant Line of Business: \Gf-r
(DESCRIBE THE NATURE OF YOUR BUSINESS)

Most Recent Business at This Location: \ in'\ -[q\.\nfri I A0 nnt"

Is this an ownership change ontyf IJC Are alcohol sales proposed?

Have you ever owned or operated a similar fype business? Yes

lf yes, please list the name of the business and the City & State the business was located:

"n \ '^.\r" \ f ,nS" A
Name of Business \J $i 

-tt.? 
\\ {J\b t t+ ti i;t -

(-i \ c.^,^ [.r\citv )\N\+\\ti-:{t state Uu t-\

Is your business a home occupation? Yes

6F
1 " L,Oa 505U

No

Occupational Tax APPlication



CITY OF STATESBORO
P O BOX s48

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459
(9r2) 764-5468

FAX (912)',164-469r

APPLICATION FOR VEHICLE FOR HIRE PERMIT - tsUSINESS OWNER

THERE IS A 5?5.00 NON-REFUNDABLE REGUI,ATOITY FEE FOR THE
BUSINESS

DATE

NAME OF BUSINESS

BUSINESS ADDRESS

CITY, STATE &ZTP

BUSINESS TELEPHONE

NAME OF OWNER

HOME ADDRESS -

(9r\9C src:

C]TY, STATE & ZII

HOME TELEPHONE

ALIASES

AGE OF DRIVER

IIAVE YOU

SIGNATURE

NAME OF INSURANCE COMPANY

SlGNATURE

r i i^ ,,,
PoLlcY NLMBER ',L-YI4 i ()

PLEASE PRESENT A COPY OF YQUR INSURANCE PREMruM AND COVBRAGE FOR EACH

VE,HICLE. A PERMIT WILL NOT BE ISSUED UNTIL WE HAVB A COPY OF YOUR

INSURANCE.

E F4au,u+



D.'\.118:

To:

City oJ Statesbaro
{) e p a r tnze nt tf ' 

C o m tn uni ty l) ev e I optn.e n t Mettt o r aa dtt nt

5() t:.asr Algin Street I'.Q. Bct 343 t (914 7ti4-il630

S!,tt| ltrro. {irrtrpio -10-l.i19 litaicvbcrr.t (-ieorgitt 30159 t (9 lJ.i 761^466'l (Ftx)

I t8/20 I 3

'l-eresa Skilrrer. 'l'ax Clerk

St.jti"filCt]": ttUSIl{ESS OClCtiI'A'I'.11}NAL TAX APPLICATIOff {1 {ireenwOod Avcnueo
!)\Y Yelnrlv Catr 2)

'lhe Deparlnrent of Comrriur:ity L)evek:pment has reviewed tlre business occupational tax appiicatir:n

subrnittetl by DW Ycllorv Cab ? lbr i Cireenrvood Avenue. The applicant is propositrg "la.ri" at {lris
lor;atir-'r:t. 'lite pnrposcrl use is pelmifrecl as a "honle LlccLlpidion" at the adciress and the application is
*pploved, Stsl?s rccotnmendation is based on 1he follorving:

tr) Zoning District: I Circenrvood Avenue is locat,3d in the fUO {single Fanrily ltesidential) district.
2\ Loning Use Classilication: Per Al{"lICI.L, IV, a "taxi" business mav be classifieri as:

c Contractor Office - but rrot including storage ol equipnrent, materials, or vehicles. 'I'he a.pplicant
rrray park only one comp,lnl/ r'elricle at tlris residence at a.try olre litne-.

3) Miscellalleou:i: Approvecl httmc occup;rtions rrrust aperate in a marrner consistent rvith SUCTION 401

(Use Regulalions; of ilre St{tt{sboro Zoning Ordintznce. {Nate: I{owe occtlpttlitsn use regulrtlirtns rre
attor:hetl.)

Dcpartnrent tf- Cornmunit-y Developmertt approval is bassd on the inii:nnation provided rvithin the

buiiless occupatitual tax allplical.ion subn:itteci for our revien'artd the aftached signed ltotle occrrpatiort

use requirenrents.'fhis approval merell,'indicates that the prt4:csed use is allowed as a horne occupaliott
in t|e zgnigg district. This apprcva.l does not canfer rights to open or operatt: tlre business rrnfil all
cliirerrsir:rial i'ec1r-rirernents of tlici Stoteshoro Zoning ()rdinant:e, or atrlplicable requirelllents of'anv ofher

c.hapter ol'City Clc;de lrave becl tnet.

The Departrnent of Communily Developnrent enconrages all ripplicants to access tlte ,tl$tesbortt Zaning
Orjin1itce online at. irttp:.4'rvrvrv..stalesboroga.gov/. A cr:py til' the ordinance nray also be obtainecl

through the Cornrrrunity Deverlopil]erll olfice at Cib, llall fbr a f'ee of $10 - $20. Anrr qrrestiot:s

co1,cei:ning the {itste,sLroro Zoning ()t'diwntce niay be diregted trr tlte Planning Departrr:ent at {912) 764-

0630. 'I't; applitant is als* encouraged to consult directly with repranentatives of the E-nginecring,
Fire, Ocmmuiriry ltevelopm€nt nud other permitting departmertts if nny work on 1he berikiing or
site is to occur, tn dctermine whethcr or nrlt any building or sife plans associated with the proposed

use are necessary.

Resi:e ctfull-vJ 
-

i\ , iI

l'! ,'d, ll',1. l{ ,''FJl,i-,,,A.,1fwi4 'la" " , "" " ()

Llindy Ste iurrann
Developrnertt Clerk

Atlachrne nts



ciry af stuteshoro R[[[tv[D nE[ 3

Home Occr'ryation {Jse Req uirem ents

I Z* l*a-

!_Igglq.occupation deflned: An occupation for gain or support conducted_olly bv nicnrbers *f a farnily rcsiding on tlre prernises

iilA;i;ffiAAt,=Ai*ftrri. n* o*&ii"g. pt<,ii,ling rhaiho arricle is sr:ltl oi ohcreil for sale except such as rnay tre produced

by rnenrbers of the immediate family residing on the prcntises'

'l'he Citv of statcsborg allow.s certain businesses to operate out of a horne irt R-20, R-15, R-3, Ii"4,-R-6' R-:q' R-10' R--10, and Il-
;0;il;6|'i;iil."1;-";,G; to up..ot. tcgally. a person operating a home occupati<in must obtain a business license and meet

rhc ftilloriirrg rcquitcmcnts of.the Statesbartt Zoning Ordiwnce-

l, 'j,he ocpupation carricrl on virliin the riwelling udt shall be restricted fo the heated floor space. cf thc dwelling, shall i8r'olve

,ii" ,^r" ;i;nt mr:se arrictei, pro,lucrs or serviies protluced on the -prendsts, sliall not occupy in"exc^ef o! 2i percent of tire
i;;;fil fl;;r ;pice *itt*n *" iitiring", shail be condricted enrirely rvitiiin the dweliing 

-by 
rncmbcrs of thc family in rcsidence and

u ,"i^it"u* rii one aci<litional employee and shall be clearty secondary to the dwclling for dwelling purFo$es-

2, There shall be no extenul display of products of storage of eqriipment or otlicr extcrnally visitrle evidence whatsoever of the

occupation. business, <ir prolts*ion.

3, ,Ihere 
_qhall be no signs cxcqrt firr a snrall tbur,square-foot properry idenfil'icatjon sign linliing the propcrty to tl'le holne

occupation.

4. There shail be no eniissig* of sn:okc. <iust. pdqr, f,nres, glare" :rois*. viLrration, clectrical or electronic clisttlrhance

detectablc al the lot lir:e or beyond.

S, Ilhere shall bc no chemical. nechanicai r:r elecirical equiprnent on the prel]tises olher than tiiat mrrnally ftrunri in a purely

donrustic rcsitlencc.

6, No on-street parki:rg of busiless,r::lated veiricle s shall be permitterl at iiny time- No business Yehicle larger than :r vatt, parrel

tnrck or pickup truck shill be perrniited to park overnight otr the premises'

'l . Feauty salons, barbershops, d{)ctors, anil dentists, and similar businesses are not petmitted home o0cupatioDs.

g. ;\ny brrsiness. occupation or proibssion, the operation of which does uot meet the aforernentiorled requitements of a horne

ir..up*iio" shall not U. int..rpt*-t..fto be a home ociupation despite the lact tirat it might atteffpt to oprirate in a residence'

g" The ab0ve-listeil rcrtruirements of a home occupation shall not be construe<l to restrict sale .of garden produce gro*n on the

pi.*i,r"*, piu";aeo *ris i-i"i;i6.1l"d rioi extcnc fo dlow the operation cfa commercial greenhouse or rursery or the existence

i f stan<is or booths for displa-v of said produce.

10. Tirc follprving L\es are aliowable as types of home occupations tnot all-inclttsivc):

a. Chil<i care, but ttot tnore than six children at a tirne.
b. 'lluloring .,i'all t1'pes, liut limited to rot 

','.ofe 
thail four pupils at one tilne.

c. Arts and crafts,
d. Snrall appliance rcPair"
e. Conrracror ofnceJ-?1.e. painting, cleaning, yard nrainreniurce, building) but not inciuding storage of equipnleot,

matcrials, cr vehicles.
f. PfOfeSSional services {i.e. aUorneys, accollntants. realtors, in.sutailce agenls)'
g. [JpholstcrY.
h. Alterati()n-s.
i. Chim*cy cleaning.
j lilxne marketing (i.e. A,mwav, Mary Kay. Tupperware. etc..)'

k. M.irsician and artist.
l. Laundries.
m. {)ther sinrilar uses as spproved by lhc zoning a<lministrator'

| __- lrr-ijqj+,::t;.,- - - j,*ti:*t:*J;
Statesboro Horne Occupation ReBulationsS

B u.-s i n es s {}t: c uryrti {rt lax A pp lic a t io}1
ll o ne Oct npation Suppte ment
(InJornla|i.in accurak'a, rf Februnry ?()I0)

have read, understood, and agree to abide by the City of

Signature

Papt: .! o.f .l



irr,: ;8.1

Frint Date: 12fiU2412

Stnfesh*nn Fi re ffi *partr,n*n
;tr'*xdlt';g,.1a'q;r,.fu Lr::1;'.i j&:;rr:;d"-rr,arr*''

J},r:lur.r:.i';L6 ; rJffitfrtif.,;:d*::; rivlrr. ;'siil I

IN$FHGTION $UMMARY REPORT

$ite $ignature

Page 1 of 1

Inspector Signature

*LC04*e N:u{.l#.,w-

Name: D W Yellow Cab 2

1 Greenwood AVE, STATESBORO

Date: 12/1312412 Cqntack Cynthia Francous

Inspector Nanre: Fire lnSpeCtor Dallag K MCPhee Date notice sentr 12113/2A12

Type of Inspection: Cornplete

Property tlotes:

Fire Cqde
Reference

Discrepan€y, Remarks Date Resolved

$pecial Notes Homebased Business
O.C.G.A 25-2-4: 

-fhe governing authority of any rnunicipality sr couilty in this state
is authorized to enforce the state minimuffi fire $afety standards on al[ buildlng*
an<J structures except ene*family and two-farnily dwellings and those building* and
structures tisted in Code $ection ?5-2-13. Due ta thc fact the $tatesboro Fire
Depa{ment does not heve jurisdiction of CIne and two farnily dweflings, tlre
issuance of a hornebased business licen*e would not fall under our *cope and
tlrerefore there ls no objections frsm the Fire Department.



Statesboro Police DePartment
25 West GradY Street

Statesboro, Georgia 30458

Phone:(912)764-9977 / Fax: (912) 489-5050

Scott P. Brunson
Police Major

Wendell Turner
Public Safety Director

January 74,2ot3

Sue Starling, City Clerk
City of Statesboro

Via Hand-Deliuery

REF: Licensing

BUSINESS: DW Yellow Cab, r Greenwood Ave., Statesboro, GA

APPLICANT: Delorise Flonory,

The response received from the fingerprints submitted shows no record in the state on

Ms. Flonorv.







 

APPENDIX B:            
PROCUREMENT CARD  

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

FOR THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE  

October, 2012



   1 

TABLE OF CONTENTS    
 
 
PURPOSE            2 
 
PARTICIPANT IDENTIFICATION          2 
 
 RESPONSIBILITY          2 

Cardholder           3 
Department Representative         3 
Department Head          3 
Procurement Card Program Administrator        3 
Accounting           4 
Procurement Card Committee        4 

 
GENERAL INFORMATION         4  

The Procurement Card         4 
Delegation of Authority         5  
Use of Card           5  
Vendor Participation          6  
Documentation          6  
Payment and Invoice Procedures        6  
Disputes           7  
Card Revocation          7  
Purchase Reviews          7  
Card Security           8  
Lost or Stolen Cards          8  

 
PROCUREMENT CARD AGREEMENT        9  
 
PROCUREMENT CARD REQUEST FORM                  10 
 
EXHIBIT A (TELEPHONE LOG ORDER REPORT)               11  
 
EXHIBIT B (MISSING RECEIPT FORM)                             12  
 
EXHIBIT C (RECONCILIATION STATEMENT)                            13  
 
EXHIBIT D (PAYMENT AUTHORIZATION FORM)               14  
 
EXHIBIT E (CHARGE DISPUTE FORM)                            15  
 
EXHIBIT F (LOST/STOLEN CARD REPORT)                  16 
 
 



   2 

PROCUREMENT CARD POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 
The City of Statesboro’s Finance Department recognizes the need to identify methods of savings 
through research and the application of improved technology.  Therefore the City Manager has 
recommended, and the Mayor and City Council has established a procurement card program (for 
those who do not have a corporate credit card) through which small dollar purchases are managed in 
an efficient and effective manner.  This program is provided through a partnership with the current 
contractual bank and Visa. Each department head has selected employees that routinely make small-
dollar purchases, to be issued a procurement card. These cards shall provide the expected cost 
savings value in terms of field and support staff time and processing costs compared to the 
traditional Purchase Order method. 
  

PURPOSE 
The purpose of these policies and procedures is to describe and control the use of procurement cards 
by City employees while conducting business on behalf of the City of Statesboro.  This document 
describes the minimum standards for departments who may establish additional controls as deemed 
necessary.  The Procurement Card is to be used in lieu of the Departmental Purchase Order  for 
purchases that do not exceed a maximum of $4,999.99  An individual employee may be assigned a 
maximum limit that is less than the full $4,999.99, but in no case can the procurement card be used 
for a purchase in excess of the $4,999.99 per transaction limit with the exception of the Fleet 
department.  The Finance Department hereby delegates procurement responsibility to each 
participating department and enables designated employees to purchase goods and services within 
these guidelines. Even with using a procurement card as payment, employees must adhere to the 
pricing quote processes within the Uniform Purchasing Manual. 
  

PARTICIPANT IDENTIFICATION 
Card Issuer: The banking institution-representing Visa related services.  
Cardholder: The individual employee authorized to make purchases of $4,999.99 or less on behalf 
of the City of Statesboro.  
Department Representative: Person within each department that has the responsibility and authority 
to assign account numbers for each purchase, and to reconcile departmental cardholders’ 
procurement card statements.  
Department Head: The person or his designee having approval authority for all charges incurred by 
individual cardholders within that department  
Procurement Card Program Administrator: The Director of Finance or designee.  
Accounting: Finance Department employees responsible for payment of, and internal accounting 
for, the procurement card invoices (Finance Director and staff).  
Procurement Card Committee: A committee composed of one employee representative appointed by 
each Department Head, the City Manager, the Director of Finance, and the Purchasing Director, 
formed to develop and implement the procurement card program, and to conduct periodic reviews of 
its operation.  

 
 
 
 



   3 

RESPONSIBILITY 
The following describes the responsibilities of the various employees associated with the 
procurement card program:  

 
Cardholder 

1.  Maintain card security   
2.  Purchase materials and services for City business purposes only.  
3. Obtain sales receipt for every purchase and forward within 24 hours to the 

Department Representative.  
4.  Identify the City’s sales tax exemption status to every vendor.  
5.  Respond to all disputed charges. 
 

Department Representative  
1.  Receive all departmental cardholder monthly statements  
2.  Maintain all invoices and receipts filed and categorized by the departmental 

cardholders.  
4.  Assign appropriate account numbers as purchases are made and reported.  
5.  Review and reconcile disputed charges, or discrepancies with each departmental 

cardholder.  
6.  Complete the Verification Statement and forward it with all invoices, receipts, 

and corresponding documents to Department Head for approval.  
7.  Maintain statement copies and supporting documents for all transactions for 

auditing purposes. 
  

Department Head  
1. Establish which employees will be issued a card, and the maximum dollar limit 

per transaction and the types of purchases, authorized for each eligible employee, 
with the approval of the City Manager.  

2. Establish any monthly limits on purchases for each individual employee. 
3. Request card issuance to the designated eligible employees  
4.  Collect cards from employees upon their termination, transfer or employment 

separation.  No final payroll check shall be issued to an employee until his 
procurement card has been received by the Department Head.  

5.  Notify within 24 hours of discovery the Procurement Card Program Administrator 
of lost or stolen cards, and/or cards to be taken out of service.  

6.  Review monthly statements for unauthorized purchases & monitor expenditures 
relative to each departmental budget.  

7.  Authorize payment if satisfied that all purchases were appropriate, and fully 
documented. 

8.  Forward approved Procurement Card Statement Verification form to the Program 
Card Reviewer by the 1st business day of the following month. 

  
 Procurement Card Reviewer 

1.  Receive and review the monthly consolidated procurement card statement from 
the Finance Director.  
2.  Coordinate procurement card program policy issues.  



   4 

3.  Participate in ongoing program reviews. 
4. Participate in resolving billing disputes.  
5. Resolve supplier/vendor issues.  

 
Procurement Card Program Administrator 

 
1. Order/distribute/collect new or replacement cards.  
2. Collect terminated cards and report to card issuer.  
3. Maintain master cardholder/number record. 

 
Accounting  

1. Pay monthly charges from the consolidated statement before the late penalty date.  
2. Process the account data into the financial accounting system. 
3. Notify the Procurement Card Program Administrator of any suspected problems 

or misuse of any procurement card. 
4. Update this policy and procedures manual, with the approval of the City Manager. 

 
Procurement Card Committee  

1. Review and make recommendations relative to the procurement card  program. 
2. Facilitate or provide training to all procurement card users.  
3. Implement system enhancements to the program. 
  
 

GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

The Procurement Card  
 
The Procurement Card will be easily identified by the “City of Statesboro”, the name of the 
employee, and his department. The card issuer will not have access to credit records or social 
security numbers of the individual cardholders. The Procurement Card is a corporate card of the City 
of Statesboro, a municipal corporation; and will not affect the individual cardholder's personal credit. 
All correspondence with the cardholders will be through their work address.  
 
The Procurement Card is valid only to conduct business on behalf of the City of Statesboro. 
Business shall mean the purchase of such materials or services as are necessary to maintain 
continuous operation of the City. Any unauthorized use including personal use will require 
immediate reimbursement and may result in disciplinary action up to and including 
termination, and possible criminal charges. 
  
The Procurement Card is not transferable and may be used only by the assigned employee whose 
name is embossed on the card.  It should never be used by someone else, even another City 
employee who has been issued a procurement card. The cardholder is responsible and 
accountable for all transactions that occur on his/her procurement card.  
 
 
 



   5 

Delegation of Authority 
  
Each card will have a maximum dollar amount established for a single purchase and a total for all 
purchases made within a given thirty (30) day billing cycle. The maximum amount for a single 
purchase may be up to $4,999.99, or a lower maximum assigned to that individual employee, 
whichever is the lower amount. The Department Head will determine the maximum amount for 
a single purchase for each employee, with the approval of the City Manager. 
 
A purchase may consist of multiple items but the invoice cannot exceed Four Thousand Nine 
Hundred and Ninety-nine Dollars and Ninety-nine Cents ($4,999.99).  Purchases may not be split 
to stay within that limit. If items to be purchased from a single vendor on any given date exceed the 
maximum dollar amount established, the employee must use the purchase order process. Attempts 
to purchase more than the maximum dollar amount is considered an abuse of the Procurement 
Card program and will result in cancellation of the card and possible disciplinary action.  
 
Use of the Procurement Card   
  
At the time a purchase is made, the cardholder must get a detailed invoice or receipt to turn in at the 
end of the day to the Department Representative appointed to monitor the card use. All items 
purchased over the counter must be immediately available.  No backorders are allowed. Items 
purchased by telephone must be recorded on the Telephone Log Order Form (see Exhibit A) and 
delivery guaranteed within ten (10) days of the order date to allow inclusion in the current billing 
cycle. If ordering multiple items, the vendor must ship all items at the same time to prevent back-
orders.  
 
Employees may use their Procurement Card for Training and Travel as follows: 

1. An employee should use his/her procurement card to pay for registration and/or conference 
fees. 

2. An employee should use his/her procurement card to cover lodging expenses.                              
Employees should submit eligible tax exemption forms to the hotels at check-in.     However, 
employees should submit a check authorization to cover per diems and mileage expenses. 

3. Procurement cards can be used to purchase fuel when traveling outside of Bulloch County. 
 
The following types of purchases may not be made using the Procurement Card, regardless of the 
dollar amount:  
 

1. Gasoline, fuel or oil (inside Bulloch County).   
2. Alcoholic beverages; 
3. Cash Advances; 
4. Vehicle Repairs;  
5. Personal items and services;  
6. Prescription drugs and controlled substances;  
7. Items included in fixed price agreements or contracts;  
8. Cellular phones and pagers;  
9. Telephone charges; or,  
10. Any additional goods or services restricted by the Department Head. 
  



   6 

NOTE: The card issuer's authorization system will check each individual card at the point of sale to 
verify the dollar limits set for that card, whether it be a single use limit or a monthly limit. Should 
the purchase exceed either of these set amounts, the transaction will be rejected and the cardholder 
will be refused the right to make the purchase.  
Vendor Participation  
 
If a vendor frequently used by City employees does not accept the Visa card, the City will assist in 
recruiting the vendor to take the necessary steps to begin acceptance of the card. Cardholders should 
contact the Department Representative or the Procurement Card Program Administrator when 
encountering vendors that do not accept the card.  
 
Documentation  
 
Each time a purchase is made using the Procurement Card, a document such as an invoice or 
itemized receipt must be retained as proof of purchase. These documents will then be used to verify 
the purchases charged on the cardholders' monthly procurement card statement.  
 
Over-the-Counter Purchases require the cardholder to obtain both a customer copy of the charge slip 
and an itemized receipt.  Both must be submitted as the accounting document.  
 
Telephone Purchases require the cardholder to document the transaction on the Telephone Log 
Order Form (see Exhibit A) and attach a completed supplier order form or flyer, or email 
confirmation.  The cardholder should request an itemized receipt from the vendor.   
 
If for some reason the cardholder does not have documentation of the transaction to send with the 
statement, the cardholder must complete the Missing Receipt Form (see Exhibit B) and present it to 
the Department Representative. Continued incidents of missing documentation may result in the 
cancellation of that employee's card and possible disciplinary action. 
  
Payment and Invoice Procedures 
  
The Card Issuer will mail an individual billing statement to the City’s departments and a duplicate 
master statement will be provided to the  Purchasing Director. The individual billing statements will 
list all transactions processed during the billing cycle.  
 
The Department Representative merges all invoices, receipts and supplemental forms with the 
statement, and completes the Reconciliation Statement (see Exhibit C). This information is then 
forwarded within three (3) working days to the Department Head for approval. 
  
The Department Head reviews the statements and documentation. After approval, the Payment 
Authorization Form (see Exhibit D) shall be completed, signed and forwarded. By signing this 
statement, the Department Head certifies that all charges are appropriate, authorized, that receipts 
verify or validate all charges, and that the goods have been received in good condition, or services 
rendered satisfactorily.  
 



   7 

All monthly reconciliation statements and support documentation must be submitted to the 
Accountant no later than the 1st of the following month.  If the 1st falls on a weekend, all 
documentation will be due the very next business day.   
 
Disputes 
  
If items purchased with the Procurement Card are found to be defective, the cardholder must return 
the item to the vendor for replacement or credit. Under no circumstances should a cardholder 
accept cash in lieu of a credit to the card account. If the vendor refuses to replace the item or 
issue credit, the purchase is considered to be IN DISPUTE. Additionally, if the quantity received is 
less than the invoice amount, the transaction must be disputed.  A disputed item must be explained 
on the Charge Dispute Form (see Exhibit E) that will be attached to the paperwork turned in to the 
Department Head.  The Department Head should make an effort to have the vendor correct the 
problem. 
 
If the Department Head is unsuccessful in resolving the dispute, the paperwork is forwarded by the 
Department Head to the Procurement Card Program Administrator, who will resolve the dispute.  
Disputed claims may be refused payment by the card issuer at the request of the Administrator.  The 
Administrator will notify the Department Head of the action taken following resolution.  
 
Card Revocation  
  
A Procurement Card will be revoked if the individual cardholder (a) transfers to a different 
department within the City; (b) is terminated or changes employment status; or (c) for any of the 
following reasons listed below, which will also subject the cardholder to possible disciplinary action 
up to and including termination:  
 

1. Personal and/or unauthorized use of card;  
2. Purchase of alcoholic beverages or any substance, material, or service that violates policy, 
law or regulation pertaining to the City;  
3. Use of the card by another individual;  
4. Splitting a purchase to circumvent the limitations of the City of Statesboro’s Procurement 
Card Policy;  
5. Use of another employee's procurement card to circumvent the assigned purchase limit;  
6. Failure to provide the Department Representative with the required receipts or other 
documentation of purchase;  
7. Failure to provide, when requested, information about specific purchases;  
8. Failure to adhere to all Procurement Card policies and procedures. 
9.  After three (3) late submittals in a fiscal year, procurement cards may be suspended for 30 

 days. 
  

Purchase Reviews 
  
It shall be the responsibility of the Department Head to review each procurement card expenditure to 
ensure the goods or services were justified, necessary, and for the specific use by the City of 
Statesboro. Questions regarding a specific purchase shall be discussed and resolved with the 
cardholder. If the Department Head is not satisfied that the purchase was appropriate, the cardholder 



   8 

must provide a credit voucher proving the item(s) were returned for credit, or a personal check made 
payable to the City of Statesboro for the full amount of the purchase. This documentation shall 
accompany the Procurement Card Statement Verification form forwarded to the Finance Director. 
Resolution for improper use of the card will be the responsibility of the Department Head.    
 
Card Security  
 
Since the procurement card is the property of the City of Statesboro, cardholders shall treat their 
Procurement Cards with at least the same level of care as one would his own personal credit cards. 
The card should be maintained in a secure location and the card account number should be carefully 
guarded. The only person entitled to use the card is the person whose name appears on the face of 
the card. The card may not be lent to another person for any reason.  
 
Lost or Stolen Cards   
 
 Any lost or stolen card should be reported to the card issuer immediately, so that the card can be de-
activated.  The telephone number of the card issuer may be obtained from the Department 
Representative. To further document the loss, the cardholder must then complete a Lost/Stolen Card 
Report (see Exhibit F) and forward it to the Procurement Card Program Administrator, with a copy 
to the employee’s Department Head. The same procedure shall be followed for cards damaged 
beyond their useful purpose. 
  
The Cardholder shall be responsible for reporting all information necessary to reduce the liability to 
the City for a lost or stolen card.  
 



   9 

 
PROCUREMENT CARD CARDHOLDER AGREEMENT 

 
By accepting this Procurement Card, the undersigned employee acknowledges that he understands 
the policies and procedures for its use, and agrees to follow them at all times.  
 
This Procurement Card is to be used only to make purchases at the request of, and for the legitimate 
business benefit of the City of Statesboro. 
  
This Procurement Card must be used in accordance with the provisions of the City of Statesboro’s 
Procurement Card Policies and Procedures Manual, and the Purchasing Policies of the City. 
 
Violations of these requirements may result in revocation of use privileges and possible disciplinary 
action, up to and including termination of employment. Employees who are found to have 
inappropriately used the Procurement Card will be required to reimburse the City of Statesboro all 
costs associated with such improper use.  
 
 
NEW PROCUREMENT CARD: 
 
Purchasing Card Account Number:          
 
Single Purchase Credit Limit:          
 
30-day Purchase Limit:           
 
Employee Name/ 
Received by (please print):            
 
Employee Signature:                     
Date:      
 
 
 
RE-ISSUED PROCUREMENT CARD   Date:       
 
Purchasing Card Account Number:           
 
To Replace Account Number:           
 
Director Finance & Administration Approval:                  
Date:       



   10 

City of Statesboro 
PROCUREMENT CARD REQUEST 

 
 
This form is to be completed by the employee, approved by their Department Head, and 
forwarded to the Procurement Card Program Administrator. 
 
 
Employee Name (printed):            
 
Employee Signature:           Date:     
 
Job Title:              
 
Department:              
 
Single Purchase Limit:            
 
30-day Purchase Limit:            
 
Request for Increase in Limits: 
 
Daily Purchase Limit: _____________     or   30-day Purchase Limit: _____________ 
 
Department Head Approval:                                           Date:     
 
City Manager Approval:          Date:     
 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * ** * * * * * * * * * * * * ** * * * * * * * *  
For Procurement Card Administrator Only 
 
Card Number:             
 
Date Received From Card Issuer:           
 
Date Issued To Employee:            
 
Special Instructions:             
 
             
 
             
 
Issued By:              
 
Approved By:             



   11 

 
TELEPHONE LOG ORDER REPORT (Exhibit A) 

 
 
This form is to be completed by the cardholder and turned in to the Department Head.  After 
reconciliation with the card issuer statement (including a copy for the Finance Director), it is 
to remain on file in the Department.  
 
TELEPHONE LOG RECEIVING REPORT  
 
Cardholder Number: _________________________________  
 
Printed Name of Cardholder: ___________________________ 
 
On (date) ______________ the following items were ordered by me using my procurement 
card from (name of supplier) ___________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Total Cost including shipping and handling: _______________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
Cardholder Signature: ____________________________  Date: _____________________ 
 



   12 

MISSING RECEIPT FORM (Exhibit B) 
 
 
This form is to be completed by the cardholder and turned in to the Department Head for any 
purchase without a receipt.  The Department Head shall furnish a copy of this form to the 
Finance Director as part of the monthly Reconciliation Statement.  
 
 
 
Explanation for failure to obtain an itemized receipt:       
 
             
 
             
 
             
 
             
 
             
 
             
 
             
 
             
 
             
  
 
Cardholder Signature: ________________________________ Date: _______________  
 
Cardholder Name (Printed):           
 
 
 
 
____ Explanation Approved    _____ Explanation Not Approved  
 
 
Department Head Signature: __________________________ Date: ___________________



   13 

 
RECONCILIATION STATEMENT (Exhibit C) 

 
 
TO: Finance Director 
 
FROM: __________________________________ 
 
SUBJECT: Statement reconciliation for Period of      , 200__  
 
I have reviewed the Visa Statements for cardholders in the       
 
 Department and agree the attached paperwork supports the stated charges.  
 
Distribute the charges to the accounts as follows:  
 
Account Number:  Amount: 
             
 
             
 
             
 
             
 
             
 
             
 
             
 
             
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
Grand Total: 
 
Department Head Approval: ______________________________ Date: ______________  
 



   14 

 
PAYMENT AUTHORIZATION FORM (Exhibit D) 

 
 
This form is to be completed and turned into the Finance Director.  
 
 
DATE:  
 
TO: Finance Director   
 
FROM:         
 
SUBJECT: Statement Verification for Period of:      , 20  
  
______  I have reviewed the Visa statements for the procurement cardholders in the 
department and agree that all charges are appropriate and correct and authorize payment of 
$________________________. 
 
______  I have reviewed the Visa statements for the procurement cardholders in the 
department and find all charges are appropriate and correct with the exception of those listed 
on the attached Charge Dispute Form.  I authorize payment of 
$_____________________________.  
 
 
Department Head Approval: _______________________________ Date: ______________  
 
 



   15 

 
CHARGE DISPUTE FORM (Exhibit E) 

 
This form is to be completed by the cardholder and turned in to the Department 
Representative.  The Department Head shall initiate this form if he believes the charge is 
unauthorized or is an abuse of the card policy.  The Department Head shall forward the form 
to the Finance Director.   
 
The following item(s) listed on the department’s Procurement Card Account Statement for 
this month are disputed for the following reason(s):  
 
Supplier’s Name: ____________________________________________________ 
 
Amount of Charge: ___________________________________________________ 
 
___ Unauthorized charge  
 
___ Incorrect charge amount  
 
___ Multiple billing  
 
___ Merchandise returned  
 
___ Unrecognized charge  
 
___ Other   
 
Explanation of the dispute:_____________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
 
Cardholder's Printed Name:            
 
Cardholder's Signature: _______________________________ Date: _________________ 
 
Card Number:            
 
 
Department Head’s Signature: ______________________________ Date: _____________ 
 
 
 



   16 

LOST/STOLEN CARD REPORT (Exhibit F) 
 
 
The cardholder must report the loss of his card to the Card Issuer immediately, so that it 
can be de-activated.  This will protect the City from its unauthorized use. 
 
This form is to be completed by the cardholder and forwarded to his Department Head 
immediately.    
 
The Department Head shall notify the Procurement Card Program Administrator 
immediately so that she can assure that the card has been reported, and de-activated by 
the Card Issuer.  
 
 
____ Lost  
 
____ Stolen  
 
____ Other (explain): (time)            
 
Card discovered missing at: (date)        (time)    
 
Called the Card Issuer to report lost or stolen card at: (date)     . 
             (time)    
 
Cardholder's Signature: (time)       Date:      
 
Cardholder's Printed Name:           
 
 
Form completed and submitted to Procurement Card Program Administrator by the 
Department Head on: (date)       at (time)    . 
 
 
Department Head Signature:        Date:      
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO, 
GEORGIA 

 
 
 

 
UNIFORM PURCHASING 

MANUAL 
 

Department of Finance  
October, 2012 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



INTRODUCTION 
 

 This Manual has been prepared in order to assist those employees within each City 
department that are responsible for purchasing supplies, goods, and services to do so in 
compliance with the City’s purchasing rules and policies.  It also guides the Finance 
Department and its Purchasing Division in assisting the other departments in this process.  
Chapter 3 of the Statesboro Municipal Code contains the purchasing provisions adopted by 
ordinance by the Mayor and City Council.  (See Appendix A for a copy of this ordinance.)  
This Manual expands on the ordinance by giving the specific steps necessary for each of the 
methods of purchasing set out in Section 3-312, and includes samples of the necessary forms.  
Copies of this Manual have been furnished to all personnel within the City that participate in 
the purchasing process.  You should become well versed in its procedures so that you carry 
out your purchasing duties correctly. 
 
 Before making any purchase, you should determine which method of purchase is 
appropriate.  If you are unsure, contact the Purchasing Director or the Finance Director.  
Once the method of purchasing has been determined, you should follow the procedures set 
out in this Manual for that method.  It is critical that you follow all of the steps in the process 
so that the City complies with federal, state, and local laws; and has a complete audit trail of 
each financial transaction.  Failure to follow these procedures could result in a purchase 
being declared illegal or void, such as when State law requires a specific bid advertisement 
process that wasn’t followed.  Because of the seriousness of those types of failure, any 
purchasing not in conformance with these policies could result in disciplinary action against 
you, up to and including termination of employment if the circumstances warrant.  
 
 In any purchasing decision, there is always a conflict between wanting to obtain the 
best quality at the best price, and the necessity of the operating department getting the 
product or service in the field as soon as possible.  In order to minimize this conflict, each 
department should plan its purchases ahead of time to the greatest extent possible.  That will 
assure that you have the necessary products or services on time while still adhering to the 
required method of purchase.  That is also why the City will be entering into several fixed 
price agreements for products that are purchased continuously.  Before you purchase any 
product, make sure that the Purchasing Division does not have a fixed price agreement on it.  
If it does, you should use that purchasing method. 
 
 If you believe that this Manual is unclear or can be improved upon in any area, I urge 
you to contact my office with your suggestions.  Our goal should always be to streamline the 
process as much as possible, while meeting the legal requirements.  If a particular type of 
purchase is causing an operational problem or delay, you should notify your department head 
so that he/she can discuss it with me.  We may be able to correct the problem and still meet 
the legal requirements.  Thank you in advance for your best efforts in making these new 
purchasing policies and procedures work well. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

             



 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

          Page 
Introduction            1 
 
Table of Contents            2 
 
1. General Provisions            3 
 1) Committee on Standards and Specifications       3 
 2) Purchase Orders           3 
 3) Authorizations for Payment         3 
 4) Rejection of Bids           3 
 5) Vendors in Default          3 
 6) Local Buying Preference          4 
 7) Vendor Appeals           4 
 8) Conflict of Interest           4 
 9) Fixed Assets Accounting          5 
 
2. Methods of Purchasing           5 
 
 Category 1: General Procurement Methods 
 1) Petty Cash Process          5 
 2) Procurement Card Process         5 
 3) Telephone Quote Process         5 
 4) Written Quote Process                   6 
 5) Sealed Bid Process          6-7 
 6) Fixed Price Agreements Process        8 
 7) Open Purchase Orders Process                  8 
 
 Category 2: Special Procurement Methods 
 1) Georgia Local Government Public Works Construction Law Process       8 
 2) Georgia Municipal Street Projects        9 
 3) Sole Source Purchases          9 
 4) Emergency Purchases          9 
 5) Professional Services         10 
 6) Real Property Acquisitions        10 
 7) Cooperative Purchases         11 
 8) Federal and State Purchases                   11 
 9) Federally and State Funded Projects and Programs     12 
 10) Natural Gas Supply Purchases        12 
 11) Investment Purchases                    12 
 12) Minority and Disadvantaged Business Policy     12 
 
3. Methods of Property Disposal         13 
 
Appendix A: Ordinance Containing Purchasing Provisions 
Appendix B: Purchasing Card Policies and Procedures  
 



SECTION 1. GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

This section covers the general provisions applicable to purchasing.  You should be 
familiar with them, and with the Purchasing Ordinance referenced in Appendix A. 

 
Section 1.1 Committee on Standards and Specifications.  Section 5-305 of the Municipal 
Code establishes a committee chaired by the City Manager, or designee, and other such 
government officers and department heads to decide on standards and specifications for 
products and services.  Before making a purchase, you should check to make sure you have a 
copy of the latest list of standards for that product.  This will be furnished to each department 
by the Purchasing Director.  Also, many products will be purchased using a fixed price 
agreement, after bidding by the Purchasing Director.  Make sure that you consult that list 
also, furnished by the Purchasing Division.  The product you want may already be subject to 
a fixed price agreement. 
 
Section 1.2 Purchase Orders.  Section 5-310 and 5-311 of the Code make it clear that a City 
of Statesboro purchase order must be used for all purchases unless otherwise allowed.  Those 
exceptions are using petty cash, a procurement card, recurring contractual obligations (leases, 
utilities, etc.), natural gas supplies, investment purchases, and major projects where a formal 
contract is executed in lieu of a purchase order.  Note that except as otherwise provided for in 
emergencies the money must be budgeted before a purchase order can be executed.  
Department heads must approve the payment of all invoices to verify that the product or 
service has been received in the quantity and quality specified.  This is done by attaching a 
Receiving Report to all invoices for payment. 
 
Section 1.3 Authorizations for Payment.  For recurring obligations, such as monthly utility 
bills and lease payments, travel, training, refunds of deposit, a purchase order is not 
necessary.  These invoices should be filed with the Finance Department with an 
Authorization for Payment form attached to the front.  This form should be completed and 
signed by the department head or  designee, confirming that the invoice is a valid obligation 
to be paid. 
 
Section 1.4 Rejection of Bids.  As stated in Code Section 5-332, all purchasing methods that 
require the use of advertisement and sealed bid advertisements must include a standard 
clause which reserves the Mayor and City Council’s right to reject any and all bids or 
proposals, to waive any technicalities associated with the bid or proposal, and to make the 
award that it deems in the best interest of the City.  The Purchasing Director is responsible 
for making sure this clause is in all advertisements for bids. 
 
Section 1.5 Vendors in Default.  As stated in Code Section 5-333, the Purchasing Director 
shall not accept any bid or quotation from, nor issue any purchase order to, any vendor or 
contractor that is in default (delinquent) on the payment of any taxes, license fees, or other 
monies due the City.  The Purchasing Director is responsible for providing all department 
heads with a list of any such delinquent vendors, so that they can notify their personnel not to 
use them for any goods or services through purchasing cards or purchase orders until they are 
current on their financial obligations to the City.  The Purchasing Director will obtain this 
information from the Tax and Business License Clerk.   
 
 



 Section 1.6 Local Buying Preference. 
The City of Statesboro desires to purchase from local vendors whenever possible. In order to 
facilitate this desire and also remain responsible to the residents of Statesboro and Bulloch 
County, the City of Statesboro shall have a 3% in-county vendor advantage. If a local vendor’s 
quote or bid is within 3% of the lowest submitted bid and that lowest submitted quote or bid is 
from an out-of-county vendor, the local vendor shall have the right to match that bid and shall 
be awarded the contract. In the event there are two or more local vendors within 3%, the local 
vendor with the lowest quote or bid submittal shall have the first opportunity to match the out-
of-county vendor’s quote or bid. If the lowest local vendor declines, the opportunity shall be 
offered to the next local vendor providing their bid is within the 3% range. This applies to 
purchases in the range of $1,000.01 and up. When public works and or street projects are 
involved, this policy shall not contradict state law regarding mandated procedures for these 
processes. In addition, this policy shall not contradict any state or federal funding or grant 
stipulations that may be required. Local status shall be achieved by the business residing 
within Bulloch County and having the proper required business license(s).  
 
Section 1.7 Vendor Appeals.  Any vendor or professional who wants to appeal an award 
must do so within five (5) calendar days of the award contract to the City Manager .A vendor 
dissatisfied with the City Manager’s decision shall have ten (10) calendar days from the date 
of his decision to appeal to the Mayor and City Council for final determination.   
 
Section 1.8 Conflicts of Interest.  Conflicts of interest, and even the appearance of conflicts 
of interest, can seriously erode public confidence in its local government.  You should always 
be aware of how a purchasing action might appear to the public, and should follow the City’s 
guidelines in Code Sec. 5-337 as follows: 
 
No elected official, appointed officer or employee of the City of Statesboro or any agency or 
political entity to which the Charter or these provisions apply shall knowingly: 
 

1. Engage in any business or transaction in which the person has including but not 
limited to a financial interest, which is incompatible with the proper discharge of 
official duties; 
 
2. Disclose confidential information concerning the property, government or affairs of 
the government body by which such person is engaged or is a member of without 
proper legal authorization, or use that information to advance the financial or other 
private interest of such person or others; 
 
3. Accept any gift that has a value of $50.00 or more from any person, firm or 
corporation which to his or her knowledge is interested, directly or indirectly, in 
business dealings with the government body he or she is a member of or by which such 
person is engaged; provided, however, that an elected official who is a candidate for 
public office may accept election campaign contributions and services in connection 
with any election campaign; 
 
 
 
4. Represent private interests other than his or her own in any action or proceeding 
against the City, or any portion of its government; or5. Vote or otherwise actively 



participate in the negotiation or the making of any contract between the City and any 
business or entity in which he or she has a financial interest. 
 

Section 1.9 E-Verify.  The City of Statesboro participates in this program to ensure that 
the City has a legal workforce.  In an effort for the City to comply with sections 274A 
and 274B of the Immigration and Nationality Act, departments are required to have all 
service vendors and contractors complete an Employment Eligibility Verification form, 
Form I-9.  All forms must be submitted to the Purchasing Director. 
 
Section 1.10 Fixed Assets Accounting.  Any purchase of a fixed asset costing at least 
$5,000.00 and having a useful life of at least two years must be reported to the Purchasing 
Director so that he can affix a tag or record the VIN, and add the asset to the Fixed Assets 
Account Group.  In addition, purchases of furniture, office machines, and similar items, 
while not meeting the definition of a fixed asset, must also be reported to the Purchasing 
Director so that he can record and tag it for inventory purposes. 
 
SECTION 2. METHODS OF PURCHASING 
 
General Procurement Methods: 
 
Below are the methods of purchasing available to the City.  You need to become familiar 
with all of them so that you can determine which method is appropriate for a particular 
purchase in your department.  As stated before, if you are unsure which method to use, 
consult the Purchasing Director or the Finance Director before you make the purchase.  
Disagreements between the Finance Director and another department head about the proper 
method of purchase will be decided by the City Manager. 
 
Section 2.1.1. Petty Cash Process.  Any employee assigned a purchasing card should use 
the card instead of petty cash.  Other employees may use petty cash if approved by the 
department head for each purchase up to $50.00 per transaction.  The employee should make 
the purchase and bring the receipt back to the department head to verify the purchase.  The 
department head will have the employee fill out a petty cash reimbursement voucher and pay 
the employee from petty cash.  For departments that maintain petty cash, the department head 
will turn in a check authorization along with the vouchers at least monthly to Finance for 
reimbursement of the petty cash fund.  No employee will be paid from petty cash unless they 
produce a receipt that evidences the purchase, and the department head is assured the product 
or service was actually received by the City.   
 
Section 2.1.2. Procurement Card Process.  Department heads shall recommend to the city 
manager the specific employees that they wish to issue such a card, with the specified dollar 
limit per transaction, which shall not exceed $4,999.99.  The City Manager is authorized to 
allow higher limits for the fleet management personnel given the high cost of some 
replacement parts, provided that those increased limits are approved by the Mayor and City 
Council.  Even with using a procurement card as payment, employees must adhere to the 
pricing quote process. Departments must submit a folder containing all telephone and written 
quotes obtained for that month along with the monthly reconciliation statement. Please see 
Appendix B: Procurement card Policies and Procedures for further details. 
 



Section 2.1.3. Telephone Quote Process.  Any purchase which is between $1,000.01 and 
$5,000.00 must use a purchase order or procurement card, after having obtained at least three 
(3) telephone quotes for the specific product or service.  Each vendor must be given sufficient 
information to assure that the quotes are for the same product, or a similar product made by 
another company.  The information given the vendors should be written on the quote sheet, or 
attached to it, so that the Purchasing Director can confirm what was compared and ordered.  
Specific brands and models should be listed if possible.   
 
The telephone quotes must be recorded by the department, with the date and the signature of 
the employee who made the calls.  This information must be attached to the purchase order as 
a record of the calls and kept by the Finance Department. If using a procurement card, 
required quote records shall be kept if the purchase is above the $1,000.00 limit. 
 
Section 2.1.4. Written Quote Process.  Any purchase which is between $5,000.00 and 
$19,999.99 must use a purchase order, after having obtained written quotes for the specific 
product or service.  Each vendor must be given sufficient information to assure that the 
quotes are for the same product, or a similar product made by another company.  The 
information given the vendors should be attached to the purchase order, so that the 
Purchasing Director can confirm what was compared and ordered.  Specific brands and 
models should be listed if possible.  Since this method does not require sealed bids, the City 
will allow either mailed, faxed, or emailed quotes, as long as they contain the date, a clear 
description of the product offered, its price, and any delivery terms, and the name and 
position of the company representative who has prepared the quote.  All of this information 
must be attached to the purchase order as a record and kept by the Finance Department. 
  
Section 2.1.5. Sealed Bid Process. a) This process must be used for any purchase that is for 
$20,000.00 or more, unless one of the special procurement methods applies. It also includes 
capital equipment where the number of units would make the price rise above $19,999.99.  
(i.e., if you wanted to buy eight self-contained breathing apparatus for the Fire Department at 
an estimated cost of $2,500 each, you would need to use this process, as the total cost would 
be $20,000.00.)  This process requires the advertisement twice in the local newspaper in which 
sheriff’s sales are advertised or legally accepted web ads, spaced seven (7) days apart, with the 
first advertisement printed at least fourteen (14) days before the date of the bid opening.  The 
bid advertisement must contain the desired quantity and a description of the product or service 
desired; how to obtain detailed specifications and get answers about them; where and when to 
submit the bids; how to address the envelope; the time and place where the bids shall be 
opened, read aloud, and recorded; and any special instructions or conditions, such as 
attendance at a mandatory or voluntary pre-bid conference.  A reverse auction may be 
approved for use in lieu of this method, if the city manager deems it in the best interest of 
the city to do so.  
 
b) All sealed bid process purchases must be pre-approved by the city manager or his designee 
before advertisement begins.  All sealed bid purchases shall be awarded by the Mayor and 
City Council.  No contract concerning a sealed bid shall be signed by a City designee prior to 
being approved by the Mayor and City Council.  The department head should forward his 
recommended specifications to the Purchasing Director, who shall prepare the advertisement 
and the specifications.  If the Purchasing Director wants to change any aspect of the 
specifications, he must notify the department head.  If they disagree, the Finance Director shall 



be consulted.  If there is still a disagreement, the City Manager will make the final 
determination.  
 
c)  Below are the specific steps involved in this process: 

1. The bid opening should not be held before 2:00 pm so that all Federal Express, UPS, 
Postal Service, and other delivery services have had ample time to deliver all bids, 
and the Purchasing Director has been able to record receipt of bid.   

2.   There should be a specific cut-off date of one week prior to the bid opening for any 
potential bidder to ask, in writing to the Purchasing Director, for a clarification of any 
aspect of the bid documents.  The Purchasing Director will respond, in writing to all 
questions, furnishing all parties who have picked up bids with all the questions and 
the answers given.  Any addendums resulting from this process will be furnished to 
all parties also.  FAX / EMAIL questions and responses are recommended to speed 
the process.  All answers must have been faxed/emailed at least 72 hours before the 
time of the bid opening.  If a party has no fax, they must be called and informed that 
the answers are available for pickup or mailing.  If picked up, they must sign for 
them.  If mailed, a record must be kept, as well as for those faxed/emailed. 

3. No change in the bid date can be made within 72 hours of the date and time set for the 
bid opening.  If a legitimate change is required, the new date and time shall be at least 
72 hrs. extended from the original date and time. 

4. Bid packets can be received by mail or express carrier, addressed to the Purchasing 
Director, or they can be hand delivered to either the Purchasing Director or the 
Finance department.  If hand delivered, the Purchasing Director or the Finance 
personnel must give the person a receipt as evidence of receiving the bid packet. 

5. All bids are due in at the day and time advertised. Both times must be advertised so 
that everyone is clear on the due date and time, and the opening time.  Once turned in, 
the bid packets cannot leave the room. 

6. Any bidders in attendance, or their employee or agent, will be given a blank Bid 
Tabulation Sheet that they can fill in as the bids are read aloud.  The Bid Tabulation 
Sheet shall be essentially in the format as currently in use. 

7. At the appointed bid time, each bid will be opened and read aloud, unless only one 
bid is received, in which case it will be returned unopened and the project re-bid.  If 
only one bid is received after re-bidding, it can be accepted, opened, and read aloud.  
In some instances where it is known there is limited interest, or where a sole source 
contract for equipment is necessary, or if an emergency would not allow a re-bidding, 
or similar circumstance, the City Manager can approve in advance of the bid 
opening the acceptance of only one bid should that happen.  It will not be approved 
after the fact. 

8. When the bids are opened by the Purchasing Director, he will read aloud each base 
bid and each alternate bid (add or deduct).  One of the witnesses will write them on 
the Bid Tabulation Sheet.  The Purchasing Director will make clear, as stated in the 
bids, that the City may elect to use or not use any alternate bid, and will select the 
best bid resulting from those elections.  THIS NEEDS TO BE INCLUDED IN THE 
BID SPECIFICATIONS ON THE BID SHEET so that every bidder readily sees it. 

9. After all bids are received, opened, read and recorded, the Purchasing Director will 
announce that the bid documents may be inspected by the bidders at this time.  No 
one may remove any bid documents from the presence of the Purchasing Director. 



10. After a reasonable time for the bidders to have reviewed the documents, the 
Purchasing Director and the witnesses will double-check the entries on the Bid 
Tabulation Sheet, note any errors, and sign the Bid Tabulation Sheet.  Bidders can 
remain in the room for this process. 

11. Copies of the bid documents, bid bond, and any performance bonds if required, can 
then be turned over to an engineering, architectural, or other consultant for review of 
unit pricing and a recommendation, if the department head wishes.  The original bid 
documents will remain in the custody of the Purchasing Director as a public record. 

12. A memorandum with the department head’s recommendation, with the bid tabulation 
and specifications (except for major construction projects) attached, shall be 
submitted to the City Manager and City Clerk for inclusion on the next City Council 
meeting for action by the Mayor and City Council. 

 
Section 2.1.6. Fixed Price Agreements Process.  
 a) Goods or services used by one or more departments on a regular and continuing basis may 
be purchased under a contract covering a specified extended period of time, at an established 
price for such goods or services which shall be valid for the duration of the contract period.  
Purchase agreements under this provision shall be subject to the Sealed Bid Process set out 
above.  The departments of the City could then purchase these goods or services on an as-
needed basis throughout the agreed time period at the accepted bid price with a valid purchase 
order, or using the procurement card if the cost is below the assigned card’s transaction limit. 
 
b) Any department head wishing to use the fixed price agreement process should request its 
use by memorandum to the Purchasing Director, with a copy to the Finance Director and City 
Manager.  In addition, the Purchasing Director may initiate the process as well by requesting 
its use from the Finance Director and City Manager.  Once the Finance Director and City 
Manager approve its use, the Purchasing Director shall be responsible for following the Sealed 
Bid Process set out above to procure the best terms and price.  He shall notify all of the 
departments of any additions or deletions to the list of fixed price agreements currently in 
effect.  If any department is unsure if they have the most current listing, they should contact 
the Purchasing Director.  Once the City has entered into a fixed price agreement on a 
particular product, all departments must use that agreement for its duration in obtaining that 
product. 
 
Section 2.1.7. Open Purchase Orders Process.  Department heads may request in writing 
that the City Manager authorize the issuance of an open purchase order for a specified vendor, 
for a specified period not to exceed a month, with a maximum dollar figure attached.  Such 
purchase orders can only be used by specified employees of that department, with vendors that 
the City does business with on a regularly recurring basis.  This process should be used only 
when in the City Manager’s judgment one of the other general procurement methods above 
will not afford the timely acquisition of needed supplies, materials, or services.  Even though 
it’s an Open Purchase Order, he or she must adhere to the pricing quote processes.  If this is a 
reoccurring monthly expense, than we may consider an annual contract for the item. 
  Special Procurement Methods: 
 
Section 2.2.1. Georgia Local Government Public Works Construction Law Projects.                   
a) The Official Code of Georgia Annotated 36-91-1 through 36-91-95, or as subsequently 

amended, requires cities that engage in the building, altering, repairing, improving, or 
demolishing of any public structure or building or other public improvements of any kind 



to any public real property other than those projects covered by Chapter 4 of Title 32 of 
the OCGA (see Georgia Municipal Street Projects below) in which the value of said work 
is $100,000.00 or more, must use the competitive bid or proposal processes set out in 
these statutory provisions, unless the proposed work qualifies for one of the limited 
exceptions.  This statute does not apply to the routine operation, repair, or maintenance of 
existing structures, buildings, or real property.   

 
For public works projects under $20,000.00, competitive written quotes and proposals, per 
City policy, shall be obtained and presented to the City Manager for approval. For projects 
costing $20,000.00 to $100,000.00 competitive written quotes shall be obtained and submitted 
to Council for approval. Although there is no required sealed bid/proposal process per House 
Bill 1079 for projects with a cost of  $100,000 or less, complete and detailed documentation of 
obtained written quotes shall be provided and kept in the Purchasing Department. The 
Purchasing Department shall be involved in every stage of the process in obtaining 
competitive written quotes. Vendors shall submit written quotes to the Purchasing Department 
by the determined due date and time. Although many formalities are not required for projects 
with a cost of $100,000.00 or less, vendors will be given a due date and time for written 
quotes and the quotes shall be in a sealed envelope at the time of submittal to the Purchasing 
Department. 
 
b) The preferred construction delivery method for these projects is the “design, bid, build” 
method.  No other method allowed by state law shall be used unless expressly approved by 
the Mayor and City Council.  No project requiring a contract under this method shall begin 
the design phase without the express approval of the City Manager, even if it has been 
included in the annual capital budget, so that its methods of financing, design, advertisement, 
and award have been thoroughly reviewed.   
 
c) Any department head wishing to begin such a project should contact the City Manager to 
discuss it.  All departments have been furnished a copy of a booklet from the Georgia 
Municipal Association that explains this purchasing method in detail.  The booklet is entitled 
“Public Works Construction Projects: A Guide to HB 1079 and HB 513”, Second Edition, 
September, 2001You should use this as the primary reference on this type of project, until a 
newer edition is printed and distributed. 
 
Section 2.2.2. Georgia Municipal Street Projects.   
a) The Official Code of Georgia Annotated 32-4-90 through 32-4-123, or as subsequently 
amended, requires cities that engage in a contract valued at $20,000.00 or more for the 
construction, reconstruction, or maintenance of all or part of a public road in said 
municipality, including but not limited to a contract or subcontract for the purchase of 
materials, for the hiring of labor, for professional services, or for other things or services 
incident to such work, to use the competitive bid process set out in these statutory provisions, 
unless the proposed work qualifies for one of the limited exceptions.   If the professional 
service design phase stands alone and is not part of a complete project package that contains a 
construction and management element, the requirements for obtaining professional services 
for street projects shall fall under the general provisions of the professional service guidelines 
contained in House Bill 1079. 
 
b) No project requiring a contract under this method shall begin the design phase without the 
express approval of the City Manager, even if it has been included in the annual capital 



budget, so that its methods of financing, design, advertisement, and award have been 
thoroughly reviewed.  The Engineering Department or Public Works Department are the only 
departments that would initiate such a project, and that should be done by contacting the City 
Manager’s Office to discuss it.   
 
Section 2.2.3. Sole Source Purchases.  The City Manager is authorized to designate a sole 
source for any item or service under $20,000.00 in value, the purchase of which, due to special 
scientific, technological, or extraordinary specifications and circumstances, such as but not 
limited to standardization, is available from only one vendor.  Any such purchase shall be 
documented as to the reasons for the sole source and shall be maintained in the office of the 
purchasing division.  Any proposed sole source purchase that is over $20,000.00 or more in 
value must be approved by the Mayor and City Council.  Any department wishing to make a 
sole source purchase must furnish the City Manager with a written request which fully 
explains why it is essential to do so.  The City Manager shall make the decision or schedule it 
for City Council action, depending on the estimated cost. 
 
Section 2.2.4. Emergency Purchases.  The City Manager is authorized to waive any or all 
bidding requirements for the purchase of necessary goods or services whenever an 
emergency condition exists which presents a threat to the safety, health and welfare of the 
citizens of the City and whenever such requirements would cause undue delay in the delivery 
of essential services under such conditions.  Any emergency purchases must be reported to 
the Mayor and City Council at the next regular meeting of the City Council.  Any department 
wishing to make an emergency purchase must get the prior approval of the City Manager.  In 
his absence, the approval of the Finance Director can be substituted. 
 
Section 2.2.5. Professional Services.  Professional services, as defined in Sec. 5-302 (2) of 
the Municipal Code (See Appendix A of this Manual), may be required on a project basis, for 
specific activities or for certain durations of time.  Procurement of these services shall be the 
primary responsibility of the using department with the assistance of the Purchasing Director. 
The financial amounts listed below coupled with other prevailing factors shall determine the 
process of selecting a professional service provider. 
 

1. 1. After a firm is selected, approval from the City Manager must be obtained for 
services costing less than $20,000.00. 

 
2. For services with a cost of $20,000.00 and higher, it shall be required to obtain the 

approval of Council prior to the contract being awarded. This process shall comply 
with O.C.G.A. 36-91-22 and House Bill 1079. This shall apply to public works 
projects as well as municipal street projects in the area of professional services which 
are exempt from competitive processes per House Bill 1079. As stated in House Bill 
1079, this shall be for stand-alone professional services and shall not be included in an 
all-encompassing construction project where design, construction and project 
management are contained in one bid package per House Bill 1079. However, this 
does not prohibit the usage of a competitive proposal process if it is deemed to be 
beneficial.  

  
3. If there is an established relationship between a using department and a professional 

service provider, the City shall reserve the right to establish an “Engineer of Record” 
when it is in the best interest of the City to do so. This is to establish continuity and to 



take advantage of historical assistance and records. This policy is a result of appendix D 
of House Bill 1079. This is the recommended process where you have a long running 
and ongoing relationship with an engineering firm concerning specific facilities. 

 
Section 2.2.6. Real Property Acquisitions.  
 a) Easements and other limited property rights valued at less than $20,000.00 may be 
negotiated and purchased by the City Attorney and the City Manager or his designee. 
   
b) Easements and other limited property rights valued at $20,000.00 or more shall be 
negotiated by the City Attorney and the City Manager or his designee, but must be approved 
by action of the Mayor and City Council. 
 
c) All property acquired in fee simple for city use valued at less than $20,000.00 may be 
negotiated and purchased by the City Attorney and the City Manager or his designee. 
 
d) All property acquired in fee simple for city use valued at $20,000.00 or more shall be 
negotiated by the City Attorney and the City Manager or his designee, but must be approved 
by action of the Mayor and City Council. 
 
e) The Mayor and City Council may authorize the City Manager or his designee to act as their 
agent to acquire property at any tax lien sale; and such property acquired thereby may by 
action of the Mayor and City Council be conveyed, sold, transferred, assigned, or given to a 
duly authorized Land Bank Authority established by the City and Bulloch County pursuant to 
the statutory provisions of Article 4, Chapter 4 of Title 48 of the Official Code of Georgia 
Annotated, or as subsequently amended. 
 
f) The City shall acquire street rights-of-way and utility easements and infrastructure which 
are required to be dedicated by subdivision developers under provisions of the Subdivision 
Regulations Ordinance.  
 
g) Pursuant to Section 32-4-91 (b) et. seq. of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, or as 
subsequently amended, the City Engineer shall notify the Georgia Department of 
Transportation of any streets either added or abandoned from the municipal street system. 
 
Any department head wishing to acquire any interest in property for a project should discuss it 
with the City Manager, who shall determine whether he will designate someone to negotiate 
on his behalf or work with the City Attorney directly on the acquisition. 
 
Section 2.2.7. Cooperative Purchases.  The City Manager is authorized to enter into 
cooperative purchasing agreements with other units of government when, in his judgment, it 
would be in the best interest of the City.  Any department head who becomes aware of such an 
arrangement, or wants to create such an arrangement with other units of government should 
contact the City Manager’s Office to discuss it.  This shall include utilizing or “piggy-
backing” other governmental entities existing contracts. These potential contracts shall have 
been bidded out via a competitive process and all documentation shall be obtained in order to 
properly document the contract to be utilized. This documentation shall include bid results, 
copy of the active contract and minutes from the governing body approving the original 
contract. 
 



Section 2.2.8. Federal and State Purchases.  Whenever any goods or services are available 
to the City through a contract with the federal or state government, and when such items or 
services meet the requirements of a using department, such item or service shall be deemed to 
have met all the requirements of competitive bidding and may be purchased under the federal 
or state contract without regard to further government requirements.  Any department head 
wishing to use either federal or state purchasing should contact the appropriate agency and get 
the information on the product and pricing, then discuss it with the City Manager. 
 
Section 2.2.9. Federally and State Funded Projects and Programs.   
a) In accordance with the provisions of the U. S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) 
Circular A-102, entitled “Grants and Cooperative Agreements with State and Local 
Governments,” and all related provisions and laws, all City of Statesboro departments shall 
comply with all federal and state procurement regulations when procuring goods and services 
funded in whole or in part with any federal or state grant.  Further, such regulations shall 
supersede all local purchasing ordinance provisions to the extent of any conflict. 
 
b) All sub-recipient agencies receiving federal or state funds through the City of Statesboro 
shall also comply with the federal or state granting agency procurement regulations, which 
supersede all local purchasing ordinance provisions to the extent of any conflict. 
 
Section 2.2.10. Natural Gas Supply Purchases.   The City is a member of the Municipal Gas 
Authority of Georgia, a joint action agency established by act of the Georgia General 
Assembly to assist member cities in the purchase of natural gas supplies and to provide other 
services to improve their municipally-owned natural gas systems. The Mayor and City 
Council may authorize participation in any natural gas supply purchase program, pre-payment 
purchase program, price hedging program, or similar program provided by the Georgia 
Municipal Gas Authority, if they determine that it is in the best interest of the City.  The 
Natural Gas Director should present the information on any such program he wishes to use to 
the City Manager, who will make a recommendation to the Mayor and City Council for their 
action. 
 
Section 2.2.11. Investment Purchases.   
a) The City shall keep all funds except petty cash on deposit in an interest-bearing account 
with rates as determined in its banking services contract, unless the Finance Director and City 
Manager determine that a longer-term investment at a higher interest rate is in the City’s best 
interest.  The Finance Director and City Manager are authorized to invest the idle funds of the 
City in any investment vehicle authorized by Georgia law for municipalities, for any maturity 
up to one year.  In making the determination of the dollar amount and term, they shall make 
certain that there would remain sufficient liquidity to meet the City’s financial obligations 
without having to use short-term borrowing, or cash in an investment prematurely.   
 
b) Any proposed investment instrument with a maturity longer than one year shall not be 
purchased without the prior approval of the Mayor and City Council. 
 
c) The Finance Director shall be responsible for all investment purchases, and the safekeeping 
of all investment instruments and related documents. 
 
 
 



Section 2.2.12.  Minority and Disadvantaged Business Policy.  
The City of Statesboro does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national 
origin, disability, veteran status, sexual orientation, gender identity, sex, genetic information 
or age in the process of doing business with the City of Statesboro. The City of Statesboro 
strives to maintain an open and unbiased business atmosphere for the benefit of both the 
citizens of the City of Statesboro and participating vendors as well. 
 
SECTION 3. METHODS OF PROPERTY DISPOSAL  
 
Section 3.1. Methods of Property Disposal.  The Mayor and City Council are authorized to 
sell any real or personal property owned or held by the City, and not needed for governmental 
or other public purposes in such manner as is required in state law for cities.  The purchasing 
director shall be responsible for the deletions to the fixed assets of the city.  Any department 
head who wishes to dispose of property he deems no longer needed by the department should 
notify the City Manager to discuss it.  If no other department of the City has a need for the 
property, and the City Manager agrees that it is not needed, he will make a recommendation to 
the Mayor and City Council for their action using one of the methods below:     
 
a) The sale of real and personal property shall be accomplished using the procedures codified 
in Chapter 37 of Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, or as subsequently 
amended. 
 
b) The sale of real property which is no longer needed for public road purposes and has been 
abandoned by the City shall be disposed of using the procedures codified in Chapter 7 of Title 
32 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, or as subsequently amended.  The City 
Engineer shall notify the Georgia Department of Transportation of the abandonment of any 
street right of way as required by Section 32-4-91 (b) et. seq. of the Official Code of Georgia 
Annotated, or as subsequently amended. 
 
c) Enclosure of city alleys which are no longer needed shall be done in accordance with 
Section 36-30-11 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, or as subsequently amended.  
d) Real property acquired through a tax lien sale may be disposed of by participation in a Land 
Bank Authority, as authorized by Article 4, Chapter 4 of Title 48 of the Official Code of 
Georgia Annotated, or as subsequently amended. 
 
 


	02-19-2013 Council Agenda
	2-6-2013 council minutes
	2-6-2013 council work session minutes
	6-2013- 02 AN_12-09-01_Annex_ORDINANCE
	7-2013-02-#2 Ordinance 2013-02_Exhibits
	8-2013-03 AN_12-12-06_Annex_ORDINANCE
	9-2013-03 #2Ordinance 2013-03_Exhibit
	10-2013-04 AN_12-12-02 _ 12-12-03 _ 12-12-05_Annex_ORDINANCE
	11-2013-04 #2 Ordinance 2013-04_Exhibits
	2013-special event
	2013-alcohol application
	2013-01 new alcohol ordinance for packet
	2013- new taxi company
	2013- N College drainage
	2013-Puchasing Manual Procurement Card Procedures-Appendix B-Oct  2012- FINAL Draft
	FOR THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA
	October, 2012
	PURPOSE            2
	RESPONSIBILITY          2
	PROCUREMENT CARD POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
	CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA
	PURPOSE
	PARTICIPANT IDENTIFICATION
	GENERAL INFORMATION
	PROCUREMENT CARD CARDHOLDER AGREEMENT
	City of Statesboro


	For Procurement Card Administrator Only
	TELEPHONE LOG ORDER REPORT (Exhibit A)
	MISSING RECEIPT FORM (Exhibit B)
	RECONCILIATION STATEMENT (Exhibit C)
	PAYMENT AUTHORIZATION FORM (Exhibit D)
	CHARGE DISPUTE FORM (Exhibit E)
	LOST/STOLEN CARD REPORT (Exhibit F)
	Form completed and submitted to Procurement Card Program Administrator by the Department Head on: (date)       at (time)    .




	2013-Purchasing Manual October 2012-FINAL Draft

